# **REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL**

# **PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING ASSISTANCE POLICY 2019**

# **CONTENTS**

1 INTRODUCTION	2
2 KEY AIMS	2
3 TYPES OF ASSISTANCE AVAILABLE	3
3.1 MANDATORY DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT	3
3.2 DISCRETIONARY DISABILITIES ASSISTANCE	
3.3 DISCRETIONARY HOUSING ASSISTANCE	4
4 GENERAL PROVISIONS	
5 PERSONS ELIGIBLE FOR HOUSING ASSISTANCE	5
6 WHERE ASSISTANCE WILL BE RESTRICTED	5
7 SUPERVISION OF WORKS	
8 PAYMENT OF ASSISTANCE	
9 SECURITY & REPAYMENT OF ASSISTANCE	9
10 ENQUIRIES & APPLYING FOR HOUSING ASSISTANCE	9
11 ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS	11
12 BREACH OF UNDERTAKINGS	11
13 DEATH OF THE APPLICANT	
14 DECISIONS, NOTIFICATIONS & REDETERMINATIONS	12
15 REVIEW OF THE COUNCILS DECISION	13
16 MANDATORY DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS (DFG)	
17 DISCRETIONARY DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT	. 15
18 MINOR ADAPTATIONS/HANDYPERSONS SERVICE TOP-UP	16
19 DEMENTIA DWELLINGS GRANT	16
20 HOSPITAL DISCHARGE SCHEME	
21 CEILING TRACKING & HOISTS	
22 HOME REPAIR ASSISTANCE LIFETIME LOANS (HRA LTL)	
23 HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION LIFETIME LOANS (HMO LTL).	
24 ENERGY EFFICIENCY SCHEME	20

# 1.Introduction

The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 requires all Councils to adopt and publish a policy outlining how they intend to exercise powers set out within the legislation, to include use of government funding received through the Better Care Fund, to meet both national aims, outcome measures, metrics and local needs in addition to locally funded forms of assistance.

The policy is designed to contribute towards the Council's strategic aims and objectives by assisting with:

- a) The improvement of housing quality in all tenures
- b) Enabling people to stay in their home as they get older and provide disabled persons with maximum ability around their homes
- c) Renovating unfit houses and bringing empty properties back into use
- d) Improving energy efficiency and eliminating fuel poverty
- e) Improvement of social care, health and social wellbeing

# 2.Key Aims

The key aims are to address the issue of vulnerable persons or persons on low incomes who either cannot afford to maintain their properties in good repair or who cannot fund essential adaptations required in order that they might fully utilise their home, benefit from safe and decent housing and retain their independence. This will include;

- Increasing the number of vulnerable persons who are able to live independently at home
- Reducing the number of persons and particularly vulnerable persons living in homes that have category 1 and serious category 2 hazards ( as set out within the Housing Act 2004 )
- Increasing the number of empty properties brought back into use, particularly where that accommodation can be used to reduce homelessness, or for use as temporary accommodation
- Reducing the number of households in fuel poverty

The Council will consider in all cases a person's ability to repay or contribute towards the assistance given whether under a mandatory requirement or as a criteria set within any

discretionary form of assistance. The council will provide in writing the conditions and any obligations to which any form of assistance provided is subject.

The Council will consider all applications for assistance on their merits however all cases will be assessed against the following criteria:

- All available options, including but not restricted to financial, have been fully explored
- Assistance through other means is not reasonably available or practicable
- The proposal fits the strategic aims of the council and/or national aims
- The proposal is economically viable considering the council resources available

The council will review this policy on a regular basis to changing policies at a national or local level or to reflect evidence concerning the conditions of housing within the Borough.

# 3. Types of Assistance Available

The types of financial assistance offered, are set out below and will remain so until a further Housing Assistance Policy is published. All are discretionary, except Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant and are subject to the council having sufficient resources.

The Policy grants discretion to extend or amend eligibility criteria, level of grant or assistance and scope of works where the situation is exceptional and, in the opinion of the Head of Community Services assistance would help the Council meet its strategic housing objectives and/or Better Care Fund metrics.

# 3.1 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants:

These are mandatory grants to support the provision of adaptations to promote independent living within the home, subject to the provisions of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.

#### 3.2 Discretionary Disabilities Assistance:

The following are discretionary forms of assistance enabled through the central government Better Care Fund allocation, subject to the primary requirements of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant being firstly met:

- Discretionary Disabled Facilities Grant- To enable top-up funding to a DFG scheme that exceeds the Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant maximum where the additional costing is considered justifiable.
- Minor Adaptations Top Up\_— Top-up funding to support adaptations exceeding the
  maximum assistance available through the Minor Adaptations/Handyman Service to
  reduce necessity for full Disabled Facility Grant application.

- **Dementia Dwellings Grant** to assist persons with dementia with specialised living aids to enable independent and safe living.
- **Hospital Discharge Scheme** For fast-tracked and non-means tested works to the home to enable earlier hospital discharge where problems in the home are identified as a possible reason for delayed discharge.
- Ceiling Tracking & Hoists- Top-up funding to support the provision of Ceiling
   Tracking and Hoist equipment required to meet the needs of a disabled person,
   administered through the Integrated Equipment Service.

# **3.3 Discretionary Housing Assistance:**

The following are discretionary forms of assistance enabled through powers granted under the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002, funded by the council own resources and subject to the availability of such funding:

- Home Repair Assistance Lifetime Loans- to assist homeowners with essential repairs to address category 1 and serious category 2 hazards
- House in Multiple Occupation Lifetime Loan to assist landlords to create additional units of HMO accommodation or improve amenity or thermal standards of existing substandard HMO accommodation
- **Redditch Energy Efficiency Scheme** to assist homeowners to address inefficient heating systems and improve the thermal performance of their homes.

#### 4. General provisions

The provision of assistance other than Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants is subject to the availability of funding. All applications will be considered based on the identified needs and circumstances of the applicant or household.

Housing Assistance may be offered in a variety of forms including, but not restricted to , financial assistance, advice, provision of materials, carrying out of works, and loans. Advice offered may include Housing Options advice to ensure the most appropriate option for the applicant or household is considered and may include advice on housing rights, benefits entitlement, repairs or improvements, energy efficiency, re-housing or signposting to other agencies or services.

The Council may enter into partnership or contractual arrangements with other organisations or agencies in order to deliver assistance in an effective and timely manner, such as a Home Improvement Agency or Energy Advice Service. The Home Improvement Agency is engaged to provide support to applicants throughout the process of seeking assistance and this may include identification of options, specifications, documentation, engagement of contractors, works supervision and monitoring through to completion.

Where assistance is provided the eligible costs will include necessary associated costs such as Building and Planning Fees, Architect and other professional fees and Home Improvement Agency/Energy Advice Service fees.

The provision of mandatory grants and discretionary financial assistance will be subject to internal and external auditing to ensure adequate procedures are in place and followed and that there is appropriate use of public funds.

### 5. Persons Eligible for Housing Assistance

Only if assistance through other means is not reasonably available or practical will the council offer Housing Assistance.

Any person who makes an application for Housing Assistance must;

- (i) Be over 18 years of age at the date of the application
- (ii) Live in the dwelling as his/her only main residence (except where the applicant is a landlord who intends to let the dwelling or where the Housing Assistance is in relation to an empty property) and
- (iii) Have an owners interest in the dwelling (other than by virtue of being a Registered Social Landlord under Part 1 of the Housing Act 1996 or being eligible for such registration) or be a tenant or licensee of the dwelling, alone or jointly with others but not being a member of the landlords family, with a tenancy or licence permitting occupation of the dwelling for a minimum period of 12 months after approval of the Housing Assistance, and
- (iv) Have the power or duty to carry out the works and where appropriate have the owner's consent in writing to carrying out the works, and
- (v) Satisfy such test(s) of resources as the Council, or statute, may from time to time have in place
- (vi) Not be ineligible, by virtue of the Housing Grants, construction and Regeneration Act 1996, regulations made under the Act or any other enactment
- (vii) Homeowners have the primary responsibility for ensuring their homes are properly maintained but we will assist eligible, vulnerable homeowners to make sure they have the opportunity for achieving the correct property standards, including taking advantage of private finance to resolve issues where available.

#### 6. Where Assistance will be restricted

The following will not be eligible for assistance:

- 1. Where ownership of the property is disputed.
- 2. Where the owner(s) has a statutory duty to carry out the necessary works and it is reasonable in the circumstances for them to do so.

- 3. The Council will not consider an application for assistance in respect of premises built or converted less than 10 years prior to the date of the application, except where:
  - (i) The application relates to means of escape from fire and other fire precautions for Houses in Multiple Occupation.
  - (ii) The application is for a Disabled Facilities Grant.
- 4. No assistance will be given in respect of properties owned by Statutory Authorities or trusts. This includes properties owned by Registered Social Landlord, NHS Trusts and Police Authorities, except in the case of a Disabled Facilities Grant (Mandatory or Discretionary), Dementia Dwellings Grant, Minor Adaptations Top-Up or Hospital Discharge Scheme..
- 5. Where the residence is not regarded as permanent.
- 6. No assistance will normally be given for work started before formal approval of an application, except that:
  - (i) The Council may in exceptional circumstances exempt an application from this condition for example where a defect may present a serious risk to health and safety.
  - (ii) The Council may, with consent of the applicant, treat the application as varied so exclude any works that have been started before approval.
- 7. Grant assistance will not normally be provided for works covered by insurance. Where, before a grant for assistance is approved it is found that an applicant can make an insurance claim, the insurance company will be requested to confirm in writing the level of their liability, if any. The level of housing assistance will be reduced by an amount equivalent to the insurance company's liability. Where housing assistance is approved, a condition will be imposed requiring the applicant to pursue any relevant claim against an insurance company or third party for;
  - a) Claims for personal injuries where the works are required under a Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant.
  - b) Claims on the applicant's property insurance or on a third party where the application where the application is in respect of works for which financial assistance has been given and to repay the financial assistance provided out of the proceeds of such a claim.
- 8. The Council will assess whether the scope of the works are reasonable and eligible, in particular having regard to the age, condition and structural layout of the property.
- 9. The Council will determine whether prices provided by contractors meet value for money. In determining this, the Officer will give consideration to similar jobs priced within the last year. The Officer may liaise with the relevant body or contractor to check the specification and any estimates, as part of the procurement procedure.
- 10. In the event that the Officer believes the price for contracts are too high and identifies an appropriate price for this work (which is lower) they will advise the client that the total eligible assistance will be the lower amount. The client is under no obligation to

- use the lower priced contractor but must be aware the Council will only make a grant or assistance payment up to the value of the lower price.
- 11. In the case of an application for Disabled Facilities Grant where the client chooses to pursue a different scheme of work's or an enhanced scheme of works the client will be advised the Council will only provide assistance to the value of the scheme of works the Officer has determined would otherwise satisfy the basic primary requirement(s) identified by the report of the Occupational Therapy Service, subject to the Officer being satisfied the clients preferred scheme will also satisfy the primary requirements.
- 12. The Council may refuse any application for assistance lacking the required information or documentation.
- 13. Where the client deviates from the scheme of work(s) submitted and subsequently approved by the Council without prior consultation with, or agreement of, the Officer the Council may rescind the approval or refuse to make any further payment of assistance. The Council may also seek to recover any interim assistance payments previously made against the approved scheme.
- 14. If the applicant is an owner of the dwelling in respect of which Housing Assistance has been approved and ceases to be the owner before the works are completed the applicant must repay to the Council on demand the total amount of Housing Assistance that has been paid.
- 15. Where a grant condition imposes a liability to repay the Housing Assistance, or a part thereof, the condition will be registered by the Council as a Local Land Charge.
- 16. Where Housing Assistance has been approved the works must be completed within 12 months of the approval date, except where an extension of time, not exceeding 6 months has been agreed by the Council. Where no extension is agreed the Council may rescind the approval or refuse to make any further payment of assistance. The Council may also seek to recover any interim assistance payments previously made against the approved scheme.
- 17. In the case of common parts of a dwelling the Council will only consider assistance for the reasonable sum or proportion of the applicant's liability. The applicant must prove a repairing liability for the common parts.
- 18. The Council may, where financial or operational demands dictate, defer payment of a Disabled Facilities Grant for a period not exceeding 12 months. Any deferment will be detailed in the approval notice.
- 19. The provision of Housing Assistance is allowed for caravans and houseboats used as a main residence, subject to meeting other eligibility requirements. Holiday residencies, caravans on holiday sites or sites with restricted occupancy, second homes (as defined by Council Revenues criteria) and sheds, outbuildings or appurtenances will not qualify for Housing Assistance.
- 20. The Council will include the costs of additional warranty years on specialised equipment to a maximum of two additional years beyond the standard warranty, however it

- reserves the right to exclude the provision of additional warranty at any time subject to the availability of finances.
- 21. The Council recognises that this policy cannot cover every likely situation and there may be persons who genuinely are in need of some form of urgent support that are precluded from accessing Housing Assistance due to a specific aspect. In these situations the Council may consider offering assistance in exceptional circumstances, in particular where support would help the Council meet its strategic objectives, as determined by the Head of Service in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder.

# 7. Supervision of Works

In the absence of any agency agreement with the Council or its appointed Home Improvement Agency, the responsibility for supervision of the works rests with the applicant or with any suitably qualified and indemnified building professional or agent acting on the applicant's behalf and not with the Council.

All work must be undertaken:

- a) In accordance with manufacturers recommendations and best practice.
- b) In accordance with and to the satisfaction of the Council.
- c) In accordance with building, planning and installation regulations where applicable and Health and Safety regulations.

Payment of grant/assistance will be made, in whole or by part payments, on receipt of contractors invoice following satisfactory completion of the eligible work as determined by the Council's Officer or its appointed Agent.

#### 8. Payment of Assistance

The Housing Assistance will only be paid if

- (i) The assisted works are completed within 12 months from the date of the approval unless the delay was caused by the Council or its appointed Agency.
- (ii) The assisted works are carried out in accordance with the specifications set out in the formal approval or as varied with the prior agreement of the Council.
- (iii) The assisted works are carried out to the satisfaction of the Council or its appointed Agency and the applicant.
- (iv) The Council are provided with an invoice, demand or receipt for payment in an acceptable format.

Invoices must be addressed to the applicant c/o the Council or its appointed agency and must contain sufficient detail for the Council to identify in full, the works carried out, the price charges and any variations previously agreed with the Council or its appointed Agency, and must not be provided by the applicant or a member of his/her family.

The payment of the Housing Assistance to the contractor may be made via the applicant, or, where requested within the original application, paid directly to the contractor engaged by the applicant.

The Housing Assistance may be paid in one lump-sum on satisfactory completion of the works or by staged payments as the work proceeds. Stage payments (Interim payments) will only be made where the Council is satisfied that the value of work completed exceeds the value claimed. A maximum of three stage payments and final payment will be considered,

The Council will not enter into any form of contract with a builder or contractor, and, in the absence of any Agency agreement with the applicant, it is a matter for the applicant to agree any contract with the builder or contractor. Whilst the Council's Standing Orders on procurement do not directly apply as no contract exists with the Council, the principles of the Standing Orders will be referred to for determining the administration of procedures regarding the obtaining of quotes, etc.

# 9. Security and Repayment of Assistance

Where a grant condition imposes a liability to repay the Housing Assistance, or a part thereof, the condition will be registered by the Council as a Local Land Charge.

The Council will recover grant/housing assistance monies in full if the relevant conditions of the assistance are not met. Where not already a requirement of the specific terms of the housing assistance granted, a local/legal land charge may be entered against the property for the purpose of debt recovery.

If an application is approved but it subsequently appears to the Council that the applicant (or one of two or more joint applicants) was not, at the time the application was approved, entitled to receive the assistance approved, then no payment, or further payments, of assistance will be made and the Council may seek to recover immediately any payments made together with interest accruing from the date of payment.

The Council may, at its discretion determine to require repayment of a lesser sum than the full amount of Housing Assistance.

#### 10. Enquiries and Applying for Housing Assistance

Applicants are not obliged to use the services of the Council's appointed agent/home Improvement Agency.

All applications must be on a form provided by the council and must include the following documentation:-

(i) Where the estimated cost of the works is between £0-£3000 two competitive quotations are required set out against the itemised schedule of works for which

housing assistance is sought and submitted to the council. Where the estimated cost of the works is between £3001-£25000 three competitive quotations set out against the itemised schedule of works. However, where the application is being coordinated through the Council's appointed Home Improvement agency then the procurement frameworks approved by the council will be used.

- (ii) Particulars of the work to be carried out including, where appropriate, plans, specifications and specialist reports. This should include the complete scheme in cases where the whole scheme exceeds that which is eligible for Housing Assistance.
- (iii) Details of any professional fees or charges relating to the work and for which assistance is being sought.
- (iv) Proof of ownership of all land and buildings pertaining to the application from a solicitor or mortgagee, or copies of the title deeds/land certificate, or a copy of the tenancy agreement or licence to occupy in the case of a tenanted property.
- (v) Proof of occupation and/or tenancy where applicable.
- (vi) Proof of a qualifying pass-porting benefit is being claimed.
- (vii) Where no pass-porting benefit is received, full financial documentation including but not limited to income received, benefits received, savings, pensions and where applicable rental income from tenants and boarders.
- (viii) Where applicable, permission of co-owners and landlords
- (ix) A VAT exemption form where the applicant or relevant person is registered disabled or capable of being registered.
- (x) A signed conditions form accepting the obligation to repay the housing assistance in the event of any breach of the relevant conditions concerning future occupation, letting or ownership.
- (xi) If required, permission under any statute including but not limited to, planning permission, Building Regulation approval, Party Wall Act, etc.

Applications relating to the disabled or infirm will require an assessment report from the Occupational Therapy Service or similar medical professional.

An application will only be considered complete or valid when the council has all the information necessary in order to make a decision on the application.

Persons wishing to pursue Housing Assistance or a Disabled Facilities Grant where a test of resources applies, will be required to complete a means test assessment to confirm whether they are eligible or need to make a contribution towards the cost of the works. This can be conducted prior to submitting an application where the council's appointed agent/Home Improvement Agency is acting for the potential applicant.

Where a person decides to continue with an application, then an inspection of the property will be made and where appropriate to proceed a schedule of works drawn up. The schedule will specify the works to be carried out as a requirement for financial assistance

and will be used by the applicant to obtain quotations from builders and/or specialist suppliers.

Where an applicant uses the councils appointed agent/Home Improvement Agency to undertake the application the relevant agency fee will be included in the eligible costs.

The council reserves the right not to assist the applicant in the same manner as it's appointed agent/Home Improvement Agency would provide where the applicant chooses not to utilise the appointed agency and to submit an application directly to the council.

Once approval has been given the applicant has 12 months from the date of the approval in which to complete the works, unless otherwise stated.

#### 11. Additional Conditions

The Council reserves the right to impose additional conditions when making a grant/housing assistance approval. These may include but are not restricted to:

- (i) A contribution to the cost of the assisted works by the applicant.
- (ii) Housing accommodation being maintained in repair after completion of the assisted works
- (iii) The right of the Council to recover specialised equipment when no longer needed.

#### 12. Breach of Undertakings

Where an owner occupier has given a signed undertaking to occupy a property as his/her principle residence after completion of the assisted works for a period of time, and if they cease to do so during that time, they will repay on demand to the Council the total amount of Housing Assistance paid out.

Where a landlord (or owner) has given a signed undertaking that the property will be available for letting for a period specified after completion of the assisted works, and if the landlord ceases to make the relevant property available for letting during the specified period then the landlord will repay on demand to the Council the total amount of Housing Assistance paid out.

Where the Council has the right to demand repayment but extenuating circumstances exist, the Council may determine to waive the right to repayment or to demand a sum less than the full amount of Housing Assistance paid out.

In the case of a Disabled Facilities Grant where a 10 year conditional repayment obligation exists and the recipient intends to dispose of the property by sale, assignment, transfer or otherwise within the 10 year period , the charge must be repaid, unless the Council , having considered :

- the extent to which the recipient of the assistance would suffer financial hardship were he/she to be required to repay all or some of the grant or charge;
- ii) whether the disposal of the property is to enable the recipient to take up employment, or to change the location of his/her employment;
- iii) whether the disposal is made for reasons connected with the physical or mental health or well-being of the recipient of the assistance or of the disabled occupant of the property; and
- iv) whether the disposal is made to enable the recipient of the assistance to live with, or near, any person who is disabled or infirm and in need of care, which the recipient of the assistance is intending to provide, or who is intending to provide care of which the recipient of the assistance is in need of by reason of disability or infirmity,

is satisfied that it is reasonable in the circumstances to waiver or reduce the repayable sum.

### 13. Death of the Applicant

If the applicant should die before the Housing Assistance is approved, the application will be treated as withdrawn.

If the applicant should die after approval of the Housing Assistance or whilst the approved works are in progress, the Council may, at its discretion agree to completion or making good of the works and pay the Housing Assistance in full, or an appropriate proportion of the approved sum relative to the works completed.

Where an applicant receiving Disabled Facilities Grant assistance dies following completion of the works but prior to the expiry of the ten year local land charge the Council will seek repayment of the sum on charge from the applicant's estate if a disposal by sale, transfer or other change in ownership or tenure takes place.

#### 14. Decisions, Notifications and Redeterminations

The Council will notify the applicant in writing when their application has been approved or refused. The decision will be notified as soon as reasonably practical and in any event no later than six months after receipt of a full and valid application.

If the application is approved, the notification will specify the eligible works, the value of the assistance and the builder/contractor who will execute the works. In the case of a Disabled Facilities Grant the Council may, where financial or operational demands dictate, defer payment of the assistance for a period not exceeding 12 months. Any deferment will be detailed within the grant approval notice.

If the application for Housing Assistance is refused, the Council will give the reasons for the refusal and confirm the procedure for appealing the decision.

Where Housing Assistance has been approved and the Council are satisfied that through circumstances beyond the control of the applicant which could not have reasonably been foreseen, the cost of the assisted works has either increased or decreased, the Council may, at their discretion re-determine the assistance given and notify the applicant accordingly by issue of a re-approval notice.

Additional works or deviations from the approved works carried out without prior approval of the Council will not be considered for any increased financial assistance and would remain the responsibility of the applicant to fund.

# 15. Review of the Councils Decision

Any person having made a valid application for Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant or Discretionary Housing Assistance may request a review of the decision not to consider or to refuse an application.

A request for review of must be submitted to the Council with 21 days of the date of the decision letter. The request must be in writing and addressed to the Head of Community Services at Redditch Borough Council, Town Hall, Walter Stranz Square, Redditch B98 8AH. A review of the decision will be undertaken by the Head of Community Services in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder and the decision will be notified to the applicant in writing. If the person remains dissatisfied with the review decision they have the right to approach the Local Government Ombudsman.

Any departure from Policy will only be considered where the applicant can demonstrate both wholly exceptional circumstances to justify such a departure but also that the applicant does not have the means by which they could reasonably be expected to otherwise fund and undertake the work.

Complaints about service delivery rather than Policy must be made in writing to the Strategic Housing Manager at the aforementioned address who will investigate the complaint in accordance with the councils Corporate Complaints Procedure which is available on request.

# 16. Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG)

These grants are mandatory under the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 and are subject to a statutory test of resources ( means test) required to establish whether the applicant is financially able to contribute towards the costs of the eligible scheme.

Disabled Facilities Grants are awarded to enable applicants to have access to and around their homes, or to use essential facilities within the home to enable them to live safely and independently. Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants can only be given for the purposes set out in the Act.

Ongoing maintenance and repair of adaptations and equipment provided under the grant will become the responsibility of the applicant or landlord as relevant.

Whilst it is recognised that a Disabled Facilities Grant is a mandatory grant, it is the Council's intention where possible to investigate all housing options that might meet the needs of the applicant in the most cost effective and suitable way before awarding a Disabled Facilities Grant. This could include moving to a more suitable and/or adapted accommodation that may be available to the applicant.

The maximum amount of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant is currently £30,000 set by statute. Discretionary Disabled Facilities Grant for costs above £30,000 will not be made available except upon the agreement of the Council, in accordance with this policy and where justified to be the most satisfactory course of action in the circumstances or to have arisen through reasonable and unforeseeable additional works or costs.

The council will endeavour to determine all valid application within 2 weeks of receipt unless further information is required to enable that decision. Where further information or other factors necessitate further investigation of options the council will determine the application at the earliest opportunity within the statutory timescale of 6 months.

# **Eligible Applicants**

- Any applicant registered or capable of being registered under the Chronically Sick & Disabled Persons Act 1970 and requires adaptations to be provided.
- Any disabled person, as described by Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, s.100. Applicants can be property owners or tenants or some landlords may apply on behalf of tenants.

# **Qualifying Criteria**

- A referral from the Community Occupational Therapist (COT) via Social Services confirming that the works are 'necessary and appropriate' is required. This referral will recommend works.
- Entitlement to a Disabled Facilities Grant is mandatory but before approval the Council has to be satisfied that the relevant works are both necessary and appropriate for the disabled person, and additionally that it is 'reasonable and practicable ' to carry out the works.
- A permanent, or long-term in the case of fostering, and legal residence, including dwellings, mobile homes, caravans and houseboats. Second or holiday homes will not be considered for assistance.

#### Conditions

- Works must qualify as described in s23 of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 (as amended).
- Works must be recommended by a Community Occupational Therapist and be necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of the disabled applicant.
- The works must be reasonable and practicable to carry out having regard to the age and condition of the dwelling or building.
- Applicant will be subject to a financial assessment of resources except where
   <u>i</u>) the applicant (relevant person(s)) is in receipt of one or more of the following
   means tested benefits; -Housing Benefit, Income Support, Guaranteed Pension
   Credit, Income-based Employment Support Allowance (ESA), Income-based Job
   Seekers Allowance (JSA), Working/Child Tax Credit where income is less than set
   threshold, Universal Credit
  - ii) The application is in respect of a disabled child.
- Proof of title is required
- Landlord consent to the works is required where applicable.
- Conditions relating to the recovery of equipment in specified circumstances are applied.
- The Council will use its powers to place a local land charge against the property
  where the Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant exceeds £5000. The charge may be
  up to a maximum of £10,000 and repayment of the sum on charge is required
  where the adapted property is sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of within a
  10 year period from completion of the work.

# **Maximum Assistance**

• £ 30,000 (once only)

# 17. Discretionary Disabled Facilities Grant

Subject to availability of funding the council may consider Discretionary Disabled Facilities Grant. Where Discretionary Disabled Facilities Grant is considered appropriate the discretionary assistance will not exceed £20,000, will be repayable to the Council in full on the sale transfer or disposal of the property and will be registered as a Local Land Charge.

Where works requested are in excess of £30,000 or considered to be unreasonable given the age, construction and/or condition of the property, alternatives to discretionary DFG funding including the following will normally be considered;

- a) Referral to Social Services for their consideration of providing additional resources.
- b) Alternative schemes of work.
- c) Assistance to enable a move to alternative accommodation, with funding for adaptations to the new accommodation.

#### Maximum Assistance

• £ 20,000 (once only)

#### 18. Minor Adaptations / Handypersons Service Top-Up

Subject to availability of funding the council will consider providing top-up funding to adaptations provided by the AgeUK Handyman Service, for homeowners and private tenants. Work exceeding the Handyman Service maximum of £1000 may be topped-up to a maximum cost of £2000.

This discretionary assistance prevents minor schemes of adaptation to proceed without the need for an application through the Disabled Facilities Grant process which may be disproportionate to the scale of funding required and unduly delay provision of the required adaptations. A Local Land Charge is not applicable and only one application per household is allowed in any 5-year period.

# **Maximum Assistance**

• £ 1000 (only one application per 5 year period)

# 19. Dementia Dwellings Grant

Subject to availability of funding the council will consider providing non means-tested assistance to provide aids and adaptations in the home designed to enable people with memory loss or a diagnosis of dementia to manage their surroundings, retain their independence and reduce feelings of confusion.

It is a free service which is run through AgeUK and provides a range of measures which can include such items as night lamps, touch lamps, dementia clocks, illuminated switches and key safes.

# **Eligible Applicants**

- A referral from the Early Intervention Dementia Team Service (EDTS) or AgeUK Dementia Team.
- The grant offer will be a combination of standard and bespoke products based around an assessment of individual need.

#### **Qualifying Criteria**

To apply for this assistance you will need to:

 Have been diagnosed with dementia or suffering from recognised memory loss affecting day-to-day independence.

- Be referred by a Worcestershire GP, OT, EDTS, AgeUK or any Dementia Carers
   Association, to the Home Improvement Agency, regardless of tenure.
- Live at home.

Initial contact will be with AgeUK who will arrange for a visit by the Dementia Advice Service. The Dementia Advisor will survey the home and assess individual need. Products will be provided and those requiring installation will be installed via AgeUK Independent Living Service Handyperson.

#### **Conditions**

- Works must relate to the applicants dementia/memory loss needs.
- Assistance only available where it will aid the applicant to remain at home independently for a longer period.
- Only one application for assistance will be considered up to a maximum of £750
  within any 2 year period. Exemption to this condition is at the discretion of the Head
  of Community Services subject to justifying circumstances.
- The works must be completed within 12 months of the date of approval.

#### **Maximum Assistance**

• £ 750.00

# 20. Hospital Discharge Scheme

Subject to availability of funding this assistance is intended to aid timely discharge from hospital and help avoid re-admission.

#### **Eligible Applicants**

- Recognised disabled persons as described by Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, (as amended) and
- in receipt of one or more of the following means tested benefits: Income Support, Guaranteed Pension Credit, Income-based Employment Support Allowance (ESA), Income-based Job Seekers Allowance (JSA), Working Tax Credit, Universal Credit, Housing/Council Tax Support (not including single person or disabled person discount).

# **Qualifying Criteria**

- The property is the applicant's permanent and legal residence.
- Urgent minor adaptations that qualify under the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, (as amended)

#### **Conditions**

- All works must relate to the applicants medical needs.
- Assistance will only be considered where a delay in provision of the necessary
  adaptations will cause and unreasonably delay release of the patient from primary
  care, or where an unreasonable delay in provision of the necessary works will cause
  a relevant person to be admitted to primary care.
- Assistance cannot exceed a maximum of £ 5000

#### Maximum Assistance

• £ 5000

# **21.Ceiling Tracking and Hoists**

Subject to availability of funding this assistance is intended to meet the costs of providing fixed ceiling tracking and track —mounted hoists where these do not form part of a Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant new-build scheme. Where costs are below £1000 this equipment is provided by Worcestershire County Council Adult Social Care. This assistance will apply where the equipment and installation cost exceeds £1000.

Ownership of equipment installed through this assistance is transferred to Worcestershire County Council Adult Social Care including future maintenance and servicing costs, and equipment can be removed and recycled when no longer required, including making good to ceilings and décor where equipment is removed .

This is discretionary assistance and funded will be via an annual sum transfer to Worcestershire County Council Adult Social Care / Integrated Community Equipment Service (ICES) based on projected demand.

#### 22. Home Repair Assistance Lifetime Loans (HRA LTL)

This discretionary assistance is intended to ensure that vulnerable persons remain in their homes in safe, warm and heathy conditions. It is available to home owners that do not have sufficient financial resources to maintain their homes in a safe, health enabling condition free of serious defects or hazards. The assistance is repayable on sale, transfer or disposal of the property and does not accrue interest charges.

#### Eligible Applicants

 Owner occupiers or private tenants with a repairing responsibility, having savings of less than £16,000 and in receipt of one or more of the following means-tested benefits:- Income Support, Guaranteed Pension Credit, Income-based Employment Support Allowance (ESA), Income-based Job Seekers Allowance (JSA), Working Tax Credit, Universal Credit, Housing/Council Tax Support (not including single person or disabled person discount).

# **Qualifying Criteria**

- The property is the applicant's permanent and legal residence.
- The property is in need of essential repairs as determined by the Housing Act 2004 to address Category 1 or significant Category 2 hazards as determined under the Housing Health & Safety Rating System, in order to make the property safe, warm, weatherproof and healthy for the occupants. In exceptional circumstances this may include works in default as part of enforcement action.
- No assistance will be granted in respect of properties built or converted less than 10 years prior to the application date.

# **Conditions**

- Only one application for assistance will be considered up to a maximum of £ 10,000 within any 5 year period. Where exceptional circumstances exist this condition may be relaxed at the discretion of the Head of Community Services.
- Assistance is repayable in full to the council on sale, transfer or other disposal of the property. A Local Land Charge will be placed on the property for this purpose.
- The applicant must have lived at the property for a minimum of 12 months immediately prior to the application date as his/her sole permanent residence.
- The approved works must be completed within 12 months of the date of approval.
- Where the works are in respect of common parts or group repair assistance will only be considered to a reasonable sum or proportion of costs reflecting the applicant's liability.

# Maximum Assistance

• £ 10,000 ( within 5 year period)

# 23. Houses in Multiple Occupation Lifetime Loan (HMO LTL)

This discretionary assistance is intended to assist landlords to create additional units of HMO accommodation or improve amenity or thermal standards of existing substandard HMO accommodation. The assistance is repayable on sale, transfer or disposal of the property and does not accrue interest charges.

#### **Eligible Applicants**

 A Landlord of a property currently operated as a House in Multiple Occupation or intended for conversion to form a House in Multiple Occupation.

# **Qualifying Criteria**

- The property is operating as a House in Multiple Occupation where works to achieve compliance with statutory standards have been identified. Eligible work items include but are not restricted to:
  - (a) Fire alarm and detection systems, fire doors, fire resistance and emergency lighting
  - (b) Improvements to communal kitchens, bathrooms or provision of additional sanitary or kitchen facilities.
  - (c) Provision or improvement of thermal and energy efficiency measures.
- The property is operating as a House in Multiple Occupation and is to be converted to provide additional units of accommodation.
- The property is not a House in Multiple Occupation and is being converted to form a new House in Multiple Occupation.

# Conditions

- Assistance is repayable in full to the council on sale, transfer or other disposal of the property. A Local Land Charge will be placed on the property for this purpose.
- Assistance is repayable should the property cease to operate as a House in Multiple Occupation.
- The approved works must be completed within 12 months of the date of approval.
- Assistance will be limited to 50% of the total cost of eligible work defined by the council, subject to a maximum of £3000 per unit of accommodation created or improved.
- The property must be free from Category 1 hazards assessed using the Housing Health & Safety Rating System on completion of the eligible work.

### **Maximum Assistance**

• £ 3000.00 per unit of accommodation.

# 24. Energy Efficiency Scheme

This discretionary assistance is intended to assist homeowners that are in or at risk of fuel poverty, to improve or maintain the energy efficiency of their property and heating system where other funding streams are not available or inappropriate to the needs of the homeowner. Application, installation and follow-up services are managed by the councils appointed Energy Advice Agency.

Eligible elements of work can include, but are not restricted to, the following;

- i) First-time central heating systems (not solid fuel)
- ii) Replacement of inefficient or defective heating systems including boilers, radiators, control elements, etc
- iii) Loft and/or cavity wall insulation

#### **Eligible Applicants**

- Any homeowner with inadequate or inefficient heating or loft or cavity wall insulation, where works to improve or enable improvement of the heating system and/or insulation of the loft and cavity wall are recommended by the councils appointed Energy Advice Agency.
- Any homeowner with broken or faulty heating that can be economically repaired, as recommended by the councils appointed Energy Advice Agency.
- Any homeowner with a heating appliance that has not been serviced within the last 12 months, where servicing is recommended by the councils appointed Energy Advice Agency.

### **Qualifying Criteria**

- The household must meet criteria prescribed by the Council taking account of current national or local guidance in respect of both fuel poverty criteria and financial qualification criteria. Criteria may be reviewed annually or as required in line with changes to national or local guidance.
- Eligible criteria includes the following means-tested benefits; Income Support,
  Guaranteed Pension Credit, Income-based Employment Support Allowance (ESA),
  Income-based Job Seekers Allowance (JSA), Working Tax Credit, Universal Credit,
  Housing/Council Tax Support (not including single person or disabled person
  discount). In cases where there is proven fuel poverty and high vulnerability to cold and
  where exceptional circumstances exist specific criteria may be waived or varied at
  the discretion of the Head of Community Services.
- Financial eligibility does not take account of Personal Independence Payments or Disability Living Allowance.
- There must be no other funding available or appropriate to meet the needs of the household. Where alternative funding can be accessed but does not meet the full cost of eligible work Energy Efficiency Scheme funding may be granted to meet the funding shortfall.
- Should the household have savings, these should be used towards the cost of works subject to disregard of the first £6000 of savings. In such cases Energy Efficiency Scheme funding may be granted to meet the funding shortfall.
- To qualify for replacement, boilers must be F or G rated or broken beyond economic repair.

#### **Conditions**

- The applicant must have owned and occupied the property for at least 12 months prior to the application, except where occupation is by virtue of perpetuity without ownership, under testacy arrangements.
- A £250 contribution in the case of heating installation replacements or first-time central
  heating provision and a £50 contribution in the case of insulation works only is required.
  Where exceptional circumstances exist this condition may be waived at the
  discretion of the Head of Community Services.
- Carbon monoxide alarm to be included with all heating works where carbon monoxide poisoning is a recognised risk.
- The assistance to be paid directly to the contractor on behalf of the resident on receipt of proof of satisfactory completion of works via the councils appointed Energy Advice Agency.

#### **Maximum Assistance**

- £ 5000.00 per property for heating replacements or first-time central heating and associated work.
- £300.00 per property for economic repairs to existing heating systems.
- £75.00 once-only grant for a heating system service.

The Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 2019 shall apply from May  $\mathbf{1}^{\text{st}}$  2019 until such time as it is amended or superceded.